THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
SEP 24 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-000791
Case No. 2016-CP-08-0131

Jeffrey Lance Cruce,..... Respondent,

v.

Berkeley County School District,..... Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Richard J. Morgan
Wm. Grayson Lambert
MCNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
1221 Main Street, Suite 1800
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

Counsel for Appellant

E. Brandon Gaskins

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in failing to grant a directed verdict and JNOV to the Berkeley County School District based on absolute sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17) of the South Carolina Tort Claims and, more specifically, in failing to rule that Jeffrey Cruce, as a head football coach and athletic director, did not qualify as either a “public official” or “limited public figure” for purpose of defamation?

- II. Did the trial court err in failing to grant a directed verdict and JNOV to the Berkeley County School District on the bases that Jeffrey Cruce failed to prove each of the elements of his defamation claim based on the January 7, 2016 email sent by Chris Stevens?
 - A. Did the trial court err in ruling that the January 7, 2016 email sent by Chris Stevens was defamatory and false?
 - B. Did the trial court err in ruling that the record includes any evidence to support a finding of common law malice?
 - C. Did the trial court err in ruling that the record includes any evidence to support a finding that the damages claimed were proximately caused by the January 7, 2016 email sent by Chris Stevens?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a defamation action brought against the Appellant Berkeley County School District (“School District”) pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. The Respondent Jeffrey Cruce is the former head football coach and athletic director at Berkeley High School. Following the 2015 football season, Cruce was relieved of his duties in those two positions and was transferred to a counselor position at a middle school in the School District. Cruce later left the employment of the School District following the 2015-2016 school year.

During his tenure at head football coach at Berkeley High School, Cruce had only one winning season and several losing seasons capped by a 3-7 record during the 2015 football season. That season was notable for Cruce’s use of a controversial and well-publicized no-punt strategy. Under that approach, Cruce vowed never to punt on fourth downs regardless of field position or the distance required for the offense to achieve a first down. He believed that the “analytics” supported such an unconventional strategy. Cruce publicized his new approach prior to the season and spoke often to the media, both local and national, about that specific strategy. In doing so, Cruce developed notoriety for himself. He also created and fostered substantial controversy and public scrutiny for himself and his football program.

In 2016, Cruce brought a civil action against the School District for wrongful termination and defamation. Those causes of action proceeded to trial before Circuit Court Judge Kristi Lea Harrington and a jury on September 5, 2017. At the close of the plaintiff's case-in-chief and again at the close of all the evidence, the School District made motions for a directed verdict on numerous grounds, including sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17) of the Tort Claims Act. The School District also argued that Cruce failed to satisfy each of the elements of his defamation claims.

Ultimately, the trial court granted a directed verdict in the School District's favor on the wrongful termination claim. (Tr. 416). The trial court also granted a directed verdict in the School District's favor on the defamation claim which was based on the School District's silence when it removed Cruce as the head football coach and athletic director. No appeal has been filed from those dispositive rulings.

The only claim that was submitted to the jury was the defamation claim arising from a single email dated January 7, 2016, sent by Chris Stevens, who was Berkeley High School's head athletic trainer. That email was sent to the athletic coaches, paid and volunteer, as well as select administrators at the school. (Ex. 13). There were no other recipients of that email. The email was entitled "Student Athlete Eligibility and Medical Files" and addressed Stevens' attempt to make

certain that the student-athletes' eligibility files were complete and in order. In the email, Steven expressed uncertainty as to whether the files were complete, and he requested assistance from the coaches to provide rosters of their student-athletes so that he could make sure that files were complete for all competing student-athletes. (Ex. 13).

The trial court denied the School District's directed verdict motions as to the defamation claim pertaining to the January 7, 2016 email. In so doing, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that Cruce did not qualify as a "public official" or a "limited public figure" under prevailing defamation law. On that basis, the trial court ruled that the School District was not entitled to sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17). The trial court also rejected other arguments with respect to the email. That claim was submitted to the jury, which ultimately returned a verdict of \$200,000 in actual damages in Cruce's favor.

The School District then moved for a JNOV and new trial absolute on the same grounds previously raised. By order filed March 29, 2018, the trial court denied the School District's post-trial motions. The School District thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV, the South Carolina appellate courts apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Elam v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 782 (2004). With respect to factual issues, “a motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict.” *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). In other words, a court should grant a JNOV motion whenever there is no evidence to support the jury’s verdict. *Chakrabarti v. City of Orangeburg*, 403 S.C. 308, 743 S.E.2d 109, 112 (Ct. App. 2013).

However, as to the trial court's rulings on questions of law, the appellate courts review those rulings *de novo*. *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009) (“This Court reviews all questions of law *de novo*”).

ARGUMENTS

- I. The trial court erred in failing to grant a directed verdict and JNOV to the Berkeley County School District based on absolute sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17) of the Tort Claims and, more specifically, in failing to rule that Jeffrey Cruce, as a head football coach and athletic director, did not qualify as either a “public official” or “limited public figure” for defamation purposes.**

The Berkeley County School District moved for a directed verdict and JNOV on the basis that Jeffrey Cruce qualifies as a public official or alternatively as a limited public figure. As such, Cruce was necessarily required to prove actual malice to prevail on his defamation claim.

The South Carolina appellate court have repeatedly made clear that “[t]he Tort Claims Act governs all tort claim against governmental entities and is the exclusive civil remedy available in an action against a governmental entity or its employees.” *Proctor v. Department of Health & Environmental Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 628 S.E.2d 496, 502 (Ct. App. 2006). Governmental entities are “liable for their torts in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, subject to the limitations upon liability and damages, and exemptions from liability and damages, contained” within the Tort Claims Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-40. The General Assembly did not intend to waive all sovereign immunity. Rather, it “intend[ed] to grant the State, its political subdivisions, and employees,

while acting within the scope of official duty, immunity from liability and suit for any tort except as waived by this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(b).

Specifically, the School District is entitled to absolute sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17) of the Tort Claims Act. Section 15-78-60(17) provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from “employee conduct outside the scope of his official duties or which constitutes actual fraud, *actual malice*, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(17). (Emphasis added). Because proof of “actual malice” is an element of his claim, Cruce’s defamation claim is barred by sovereign immunity. The trial court, however, rejected this position and erroneously concluded that Cruce is neither a public official nor a limited public figure.

A. Sovereign Immunity under Section 15-78-60(17)

In *Gause v. Doe*, 317 S.C. 39, 451 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1994), this Court examined whether the South Carolina Tort Claims Act barred the plaintiff’s defamation cause of action against the Myrtle Beach Police Department. The parties did not dispute that the plaintiff, as a police officer, was a “public official” for purposes of the defamation action.¹ This Court explained that “[i]n a case involving

¹ This Court recognized in *Gause* that there was controlling authority in this State providing that a police officer is a “public official” for purposes of defamation. See, *Botchie v. O’Dowd*, 315 S.C. 126, 432 S.E.2d 458 (1993) (a deputy sheriff was a public official for the purposes of his defamation action against his employer, the sheriff, and was therefore required to prove actual malice); *McClain v. Arnold*, 275 S.C. 282, 270 S.E.2d 124 (1980) (a police officer is a public official for the purposes of a defamation action).

defamation of a public official, the plaintiff must prove the defendant acted with actual malice.” 451 S.E.2d at 409. Citing Section 15-78-60(17), this Court also recognized that the Tort Claims Act “clearly excludes a governmental entity’s liability for an individual’s loss stemming from a state employee’s conduct that constitutes actual malice.” *Id.* Based on that provision, this Court “agree[d] with the trial court that the SCTCA bars Gause’s slander claim against the MBPD because Gause must prove the MBPD employee’s conduct constituted actual malice in order to recover on this claim.” *Id.*

This case requires the same result. Jeffrey Cruce, as the athletic director and head football coach, qualifies as a “public official,” or alternatively, as a “limited public figure.” As such, he was required to prove actual malice in order to prevail on his defamation claim, but pursuant to Section 15-78-60(17), the School District enjoys absolute sovereign immunity for conduct constituting actual malice. Accordingly, Cruce’s defamation claim against the School District is barred.

B. Public Official

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that “to prove fault in a defamation action, a plaintiff who is a public official or public figure must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant acted with actual malice in publishing a false and defamatory statement about the plaintiff.” *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653, 665 (2006). Actual malice

requires proof that the statement was made “with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of which it was false or not.” 629 S.E.2d at 666, *citing New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 256, 279-280 (1964). As the South Carolina Supreme Court has cautioned, “[a]ctual malice under the *New York Times* standard should not be confused with the concept of common law malice as an evil intent or a motive arising from spite or ill will.” *Erickson*, 629 S.E.2d at 666. *See also, Sanders v. Prince*, 304 S.C. 236, 403 S.E.2d 640 (1991).

Accordingly, the Supreme Court has explained that “an important initial step to analyzing any defamation case is determining whether a particular plaintiff is a public official, public figure, or private figure.” *Erickson*, 629 S.E.2d at 666. “This determination is a matter of law which must be decided by the court on a case by case basis after a careful examination of the facts and circumstances.” *Id.*

While recognizing there is no "all-encompassing definition of 'public official,'" the Supreme Court applies the general rule that “a public official is a person who, among the hierarchy of government employees, has or appears to the public to have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs.” *Id.*, *citing Rosenblatt v. Baer*, 383 U.S. 75, 85 (1966). “In considering the question of whether one is a public official, the employee's position must be one which would invite public scrutiny and discussion of the person holding it, entirely apart from the scrutiny and discussion occasioned by the

particular charges in controversy.” *Id.* “The status of a public official may be deemed sufficient to warrant application of the *New York Times* privilege, not because of the government employee's place on the totem pole, but because of the public interest in a government employee's activity in a particular context.” *Id.*

Thus, the dispositive question asks whether the status of a high school athletic director and head football coach makes him a “public official.” In other words, the Court must focus not only on whether those government positions are ones that invite public scrutiny and discussion, but also on whether the employee’s activity in a particular context invites public scrutiny and discussion.

The South Carolina appellate courts have not, as yet, had the opportunity to address whether a high school athletic director and head football coach qualifies as a “public official.” However, a number of cases from other jurisdictions support that conclusion.

For instance, in *Johnson v. Southwestern Newspapers Corp.*, 855 S.W.2d 182 (Tex. App. 1993), the Texas Court of Appeals concluded that a high school athletic director and head football coach qualifies as a “public official.” The Texas court first explained that “[t]he ‘public official’ designation does not apply to all government employees, but applies where ‘a position in government has such apparent importance that the public has an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the person who holds it, beyond the general

public interest in the qualifications and performance of all government employees.” 855 S.W.2d at 186, *citing Rosenblatt*, 383 U.S. at 86. In applying that test, the Texas court explained as follows:

This dual position [as head football coach and athletic director] was, so the record reveals, of such apparent importance that the public had an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the person who occupied the positions, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and performance of all government employees.

* * * * *

Johnson's position of and activities as athletic director ... show that he was vested with and exercised significant governmental responsibility on behalf of the school district in his sole operation of the athletic department. As head football coach, Johnson filled a position of such importance that the public not only had, but exhibited, an independent interest in his qualifications and performance, transcending any interest shown in other employees of the school system.

855 S.W.2d at 186-187.

Likewise, the Oklahoma Supreme Court held that a wrestling coach was a public official because his position "was of apparent importance in that public school's athletic program for the public to have an independent interest in [the coach's] performance.” *Johnston v. Corinthian TV Corp.*, 583 P.2d 1101, 1103 (Okla. 1978).

A New Jersey court has similarly reasoned that a public-school athletic director is a public official. In *Standridge v. Ramey*, 733 A.2d 1197 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1999), that court explained:

As athletic director, plaintiff was responsible for managing and supervising all the athletic programs in the Roxbury school district, including twenty-four athletic teams. In performing these responsibilities, plaintiff administered a substantial budget and supervised approximately sixty coaches and other employees. He also spoke at booster club meetings and various other community functions. Moreover, we take note of the fact that the performance of high school athletic teams is often a matter of substantial public interest within a community. Therefore, we conclude that plaintiff was a "public official" and must show actual malice to establish his defamation claims.

733 A.2d at 1201-02.

Moreover, in *Weinberger v. Maplewood Review*, 668 N.W.2d 667 (Minn. 2003), the plaintiff, who was a high school head football coach, brought a defamation action based on allegedly false information published about him in a local newspaper. The Minnesota court determined that the coach was a "public official" and was required to prove actual malice. 668 N.W.2d at 673.

The United States Supreme Court decision in *Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts*, 388 U.S. 130 (1967), is also instructive. The plaintiff was Wally Butts, who, as the athletic director and head football coach at the University of Georgia, was accused in a newspaper article of "fixing" the outcome of a football game. The Supreme

Court ultimately treated Butts as a “public figure” rather than a “public official” only because he was “not technically a state employee” in holding those positions. Butts was, in actuality, employed by the Georgia Athletic Association, a private corporation. Nonetheless, the Supreme Court acknowledged that “the public interest in education in general, and in the conduct of athletic affairs of educational institutions in particular, justifies constitutional protection of discussion of persons involved in it equivalent to the protection afforded discussion of public officials.” 388 U.S. at 146. The Supreme Court further recognized the “public interest in the materials here involved” and that Butts, as the head football coach, commanded a “substantial amount of public interest.” 388 U.S. at 154. Given the Court’s analysis, it is clear that, had Butts been employed by the State of Georgia rather than a private corporation, the Supreme Court would have clearly concluded that Butts qualified as a “public official” in his roles as athletic director and head football coach.

The reasoning in these cases applies with equal force to Jeffrey Cruce. Like those coaches and athletic directors, Cruce's position as coach and athletic director drew far more public attention than the average government employee's position. As a coach, his team's games were covered routinely by the local media, as were his efforts as the athletic director to create a hall of fame for Berkeley High School. (Ex. 27). This media attention reflected the public's interest in the Berkeley High

School football team, which was as intense (according to Cruce's wife) as fans' interest in NFL teams. (Tr. 342-344). Moreover, as an athletic director, Cruce oversaw all of the sports at Berkeley High School, which fielded at that time every sport offered in South Carolina except lacrosse. As the record clearly reflects, Cruce's level of public attention and scrutiny stands in stark contrast to the lack of public attention and scrutiny typically shown to other teachers at Berkeley High School.

This was particularly true during the 2015 football season given Cruce's use of a controversial and well-publicized no-punt strategy. Prior to that season, Cruce vowed never to punt on fourth down, which was unconventional, and thus commanded substantial public attention and scrutiny. Cruce's no-punt strategy was the subject of numerous local media articles. (Ex. 27). It was even the subject of an article in the September 21, 2015 edition of the *Kansas City Star*, in which Cruce was frequently quoted as a proponent of the non-punt strategy. (Ex. 20). In employing such an unconventional approach and then defending it in numerous media opportunities, Cruce brought greater than normal attention to himself and his football team. In effect, Cruce's no-punt strategy commanded greater public attention and scrutiny than a more conventional football coach would receive. The record further reflects that Cruce's strategy was the subject of tremendous public discussion and displeasure. Principal Steven Steele, in fact, testified about a

planned fan protest and also the need to provide the coach with police protection at games. (Tr. 319-320, Ex. 21).

As recognized in the *Standridge* case, "the performance of high school athletic teams is often a matter of substantial public interest within a community." *Standridge*, 733 A.2d at 1202. The same is certainly true in Berkeley County during the 2015-2016 school year – even more so given Cruce’s no-punt strategy. In short, Cruce qualifies as a “public official” under *New York Times, Rosenblatt*, and their progeny. The trial court committed reversible error in failing to hold that Cruce was a public official.

C. Limited Public Figure

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