THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000791
Case No. 2016-CP-08-0131

Jeffrey Lance Cruce,

Respondent,

v.

Berkeley County School District,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Nancy Bloodgood, Esquire
Lucy C. Sanders, Esquire
BLOODGOOD & SANDERS, LLC
242 Mathis Ferry Road, Suite 201
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 972-0313
Counsel for the Respondent

RECEIVED
JAN 31 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. As Appellant's appeal deals solely with objections to the trial court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion, issues not raised during Appellant's directed verdict motion are not preserved for appeal and not properly before this Court.

Appellant's appeal is based solely on the trial court's ruling on its motion for directed verdict and is, therefore, limited to the issues raised and ruled upon by the trial court regarding Appellant's motion. Appellant stated only three (3) bases for its directed verdict motion as to the defamation claim: Respondent was a "limited public figure" (R. p. 425, line 21—p.445, line 8); the January 7th email was not false and defamatory (R. p. 461, lines 11-18); and the January 7th email was privileged. (R. p. 470, lines 1-4.) Appellant includes only two (2) of these three (3) directed verdict arguments on appeal; specifically, Respondent is a "limited public figure"

(Appellant's Br., Argument I. C.) and the January 7th email is not false and defamatory (Appellant's Brief, Argument II A.)

Appellant now makes two (2) arguments that were not presented to the trial court during its directed verdict motion. (R. p. 425, line 21—p. 470, line 4.) Appellant argues in its brief that the trial court failed to grant a directed verdict in its favor as Respondent is a public official (Appellant's Brief, Argument I. B.) and that there was insufficient evidence for a jury to find common law malice. (Appellant's Brief, Argument II.B.)

Appellant argued after trial, as part of its post-trial motion for JNOV, that Respondent was a "public official." As a JNOV under Rule 50 (b) SCRPC is essentially a renewal of the motion for a directed verdict (*Chapman v. Upstate RV & Marine*, 364 S.C. 82, 88, 610 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct. App. 2005)), the trial court could not consider argument on matters that were not raised in the directed verdict including whether Respondent was a "public official." "Failure to raise the issue that is now on appeal in the directed verdict motion bars review on appeal." *See, In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 93, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); *Roland v. Palmetto Hills*, 308 S.C. 283, 286, 417 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 1992) ("A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is a renewal of the directed verdict motion and cannot raise grounds beyond those raised in the directed verdict."). The issue of whether Plaintiff is a "public official" cannot be raised on appeal as it was not raised or ruled on at the directed verdict stage of trial and is not properly before the Court.

Appellant also did not argue during its directed verdict motion that there was insufficient evidence the January 7th email was sent with common law malice, which argument it now includes in its brief as Argument II. B. (R. p. 425, line 21—p. 470, line 4.) The only time the issue of common law malice came up during the trial was when Respondent's counsel asked for

a defamation *per se* jury charge which the trial court refused. (R. p. 472, lines 10-22.) The jury charges were not objected to by Appellant. (R. p. 503, lines 13-17.)

Appellant's arguments I. B and II. B. are not properly before the Court as they were not raised during Appellant's directed verdict motion. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997).

II. The trial court did not err in denying directed verdict and JNOV to the Berkeley County School District based on absolute sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60 (17) of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act as there is no South Carolina law supporting Appellant's argument that Respondent was either a "public official" or a "limited public figure" and the court properly viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.

A. The trial court did not err in ruling that the Tort Claims Act does not provide Appellant absolute immunity as actual malice is not an element of a defamation or libel *per se* claim.

Appellant asserts in its brief that "actual malice" is an element of Respondent's defamation claim. That is not true. Respondent alleged only defamation *per se*. (R., p. 16, ¶¶ 102, 103; p. 62.) When a statement is classified as actionable *per se*, the defendant is presumed to have acted with common law malice and actual malice need not be proven. *Castine v Castine*, 403 S.C. 259, 743 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 2013). The trial court understood Respondent's argument as it charged the jury only regarding common law malice; there was no jury charge regarding actual malice. (R. p. 494, lines 17-22.) As explained further below, there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude that the content of the email inferred Respondent was unfit to perform his job as athletic director, which is defamation *per se*, requiring no proof of actual

malice as actual malice is not necessary to prove defamation *per se*. S.C. Code § 15-78-60 (17), which provides immunity to public entities when their employees act with actual malice, does not provide Appellant immunity and the trial court did not err in failing to grant Appellant's directed verdict motion.

B. The trial court did not err in denying directed verdict on the issue of whether or not Respondent is a "public official."

Notwithstanding Respondent's argument that this issue is not preserved for appeal, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict and judgment JNOV based on the assertion that Respondent was a public official. *New York Times v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710 (1964) involved a libel claim brought by an elected Montgomery City Commissioner against the New York Times after an article was written inferring the Commissioner (Sullivan) had responded to Dr. Martin Luther King's protests by ordering the police to use intimidation and violence against King, bomb King's home and assault King, among other things. 376 U.S. at 256-258, 84 S. Ct. at 713-714. The Supreme Court held that because the elected City Commissioner was a public official, he was prohibited from recovering damages for a falsehood relating to his official conduct unless a statement was made with actual malice. 376 U.S. at 279-280, 84 S. Ct. at 726.

Appellant acknowledges there is no South Carolina law establishing that an athletic director or head football coach is a public official. Appellant cites numerous cases in other states for support of its argument, but fails to alert the Court to the many cases in other states that do not support its argument. *See, e.g., Ellerbee v. Mills*, 422 S.E.2d 539 (Ga. 1992) (a high school principal is not a public official as they are removed from the general conduct of government and are not policy makers); *Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Lipscomb*, 362 S.E.2d 32 (Va. 1987), cert

denied, 486 U.S. 1023, 108 S. Ct. 1997 (1988) (public high school teacher was not a public official as he did not influence or control any public affairs or school policy); *McCutcheon v. Moran*, 425 N.E.2d 1130 (Ill. App. Ct. 1981) (relationship a public school teacher or principal has with the conduct of government is far too remote to justify a qualifiedly privileged assault upon their reputation.) *Franklin v. Benevolent etc. Order of Elks*, 97 Cal. App. 3d 919 (1979) (public high school teachers are not public officials); and *Poe v. San Antonio Exp.-News*, 590 S.W.2d 537 (Tex. App. 1979) (summary judgment proof failed to establish plaintiff was a public official).

Further, the cases cited by Appellant to support its argument that Respondent was a public official are factually very different from this case. For instance, in *Johnson v. Southwestern Newspapers Corp.*, 855 S.W.2d 182 (Tex. App. 1993), the plaintiff was solely responsible for the operation of the district's athletic department. Here, Respondent's actions were subject to review, criticism and correction by his Principal. Respondent testified at trial that Principal Steele was Respondent's supervisor (R. p. 194, lines 5-13); Principal Steele discussed Respondent's performance as head coach with Respondent; he had philosophical differences with Respondent about his coaching style and had accordingly threatened to fire him (R. p. 195, lines 11-24); he did not like Respondent's fast-paced offense or lack of punting (R. p. 196, lines 2-14; p. 204, lines 6-18); he ordered Respondent to perform written evaluations of the football coach staff (R. p. 199, line 25—p. 200, line 8); he had considered firing Respondent because Respondent was not making the students hit enough at practice (R. p. 208, line 18—p. 210, line 5); and the Respondent acknowledged the Principal could terminate him at any time as he was the Principal had total authority over the whole school. (R. p. 210, line 23—p. 211, line

3.) Clearly, this is not a situation where Respondent was solely responsible for the operation of the athletic department.

Additionally, in the case of *Johnson v. Corinthian TV Corp.*, 583 P.2d 1101 (Okla. 1978), the court found that although a wrestling coach did not have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of government affairs, after he disciplined a student who wanted to rejoin the wrestling team by being whipped while crawling naked with his legs tied through the legs of other team members, and the issue of student discipline was widely publicized on television, the public developed an independent interest in this wrestling coach's qualifications and job performance beyond the public's interest in all government employees' job performance, turning him into a public official.

This set of facts differs dramatically from the facts in this case because the public's interest in the physical abuse of children in school is far different than how a football coach decides to run his offensive strategy. Appellant cites other out of state cases that are not on point. For instance, in *Standridge v. Ramey*, 733 A. 2d 1197 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1999), an athletic director who managed all of the athletic programs in the entire school district, including 24 athletic teams, and who supervised approximately 60 coaches and employees was accused in a letter sent to the athletic director's principal and to the superintendent of schools (while he was still employed) of illegal and immoral behavior and sexually harassing female coaches and discriminating against them. As the result of the letter, the athletic director was fired. The New Jersey court acknowledged that New Jersey courts took an expansive view of the types of government employees who qualify as public officials. That is not the case in South Carolina. In fact, there are no South Carolina cases finding that a high school coach or athletic director qualifies as a public official. Contrary to the New Jersey athletic director, Respondent coached

one of seven (7) high school football teams in Berkeley County and disagreement with his offensive strategy was not a stated reason for his termination.¹ In *Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts*, 388 U.S. 130 (1967), a university football coach was involved in fixing football games and the scandal was widely reported. Although the college football coach was not held to be a public official, the court considered him a limited public figure due to the public's interest in fixing college football games. Here, Respondent was only a high school coach, not a university coach and the issue which was arguably of "public interest" was his offensive strategy which is far different than issues related to fraud (fixing games.) None of these out of state cases cited by Appellant is factually similar to Respondent's situation as Respondent's offensive strategy for Berkeley High School was not widely televised and there was no evidence the general public developed an independent interest in Respondent's football strategy any more than any other high school football coach's strategies. The Court did not err when, as a matter of law, she found a high school teacher and football coach at a high school in one county in South Carolina was not a public official.

C. The trial court did not err in denying directed verdict on the issue of whether or not Respondent is a "limited public figure."

"Limited public figures," as enlarged by subsequent cases, are "those persons who, though not public officials are 'involved in issues in which the public has a justified and important interest'" and "include artists, athletes, business people, dilettantes, anyone who is famous or infamous because of who he is or what he has done." *Time Inc. v. Johnston*, 448 F. 2d 378, 380 (4th Cir. 1971) citing *Cepeda v. Cowles Magazines and Broadcasting, Inc.* 392 F.2d

¹ In *Weinberger v. Maplewood Review*, 668 N.W.2d 667, 673 (Minn. 2003) and *Weinberger v. Maplewood Review*, 648 N.W. 2d 249 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002), the lower court's determination that plaintiff was a public official was merely accepted by both appellate courts with no discussion by either appellate court regarding why lower court determined plaintiff was a public official.

417, 419 (9th Cir. 1968) cert. denied 393 U.S. 840, 89 S. Ct. 117 (1968). Respondent is not a famous person and how a high school football coach decides to handle his high school football team's offense from year to year is not a matter of important public interest.

The United States Supreme Court generally has defined a public figure as follows: "For the most part those who attain this status [of public figure] have assumed roles of especial prominence in the affairs of society. Some occupy positions of such persuasive power and influence that they are deemed public figures for all purposes. More commonly, those classed as public figures have thrust themselves to the forefront of particular public controversies in order to influence the resolution of the issues involved. In either event, they invite attention and comment.

Erickson v. Jones St. Publr., LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 472, 629 S.E.2d 653, 668 (2006).

The trial court properly denied Defendant's motion for a directed verdict when it ruled that a high school football coach's offensive strategy does not involve "an issue in which the public has an important and justified interest" and did not err when it refused to charge the jury that Respondent was a "limited public figure."

The "designation of a person as a public figure may rest on either of two alternative bases. In some instances an individual may achieve such pervasive fame or notoriety that he becomes a public figure for all purposes and in all concepts. More commonly, an individual voluntarily injects himself or is drawn into a particular public controversy and thereby becomes a public figure for a limited range of issues. In either case such persons assume special prominence in the resolution of public questions.

Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 351, 94 S. Ct. 2997 (1974).

In the case of *Haskins v. Baylis*, 440 F. Supp. 2d 455, 463 (D. Md. 2006), the District Court held that a dog breeder although well known in the small world of dog breeding and showing purebred dogs, did not assume "any special prominence with respect to any public controversy that he might be considered a public figure for a limited purpose." (citing *Time, Inc.*

v. Firestone, 424 U.S. 448, 453, 96 S. Ct. 958 (1976)) ("Respondent did not assume any role of especial prominence in the affairs of society, other than perhaps Palm Beach society, and she did not thrust herself to the forefront of any particular public controversy in order to influence the resolution of the issues involved in it."). *See also, St. Luke's Evangelical Lutheran Church v. Smith*, 74 Md. App. 353, 537 A.2d 1196, 1203-04 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1988) (associate director of church ministry is not a public figure absent clear evidence of general fame or notoriety), *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 318 Md. 337, 568 A.2d 35 (Md. 1990). Defendant admitted there are no cases in South Carolina that hold a high school coach and athletic director is a limited public figure and, thus, there is no precedent to support Defendant's argument.

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